
Page 1  CC03/20/12 
 

CITY OF VERO BEACH, FLORIDA 
MARCH 20, 2012  6:00 P.M. 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MINUTES 
CITY HALL, COUNCIL CHAMBERS, VERO BEACH, FLORIDA 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

A. Roll Call 
 
Mayor Pilar Turner, present; Vice Mayor Craig Fletcher; present; Councilmember Jay 
Kramer, present; Councilmember Tracy Carroll, present and Councilmember Richard 
Winger, present  Also Present:  James O’Connor, City Manager; Wayne Coment, Acting 
City Attorney and Tammy Vock, City Clerk 
 

B. Invocation  
 
Pastor Peggy Williams of Treasure Coast Assembly of God gave the invocation. 
 

C. Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Mayor Turner led the Council and the audience in the Pledge of Allegiance to the flag. 
 
2.         PRELIMINARY MATTERS 
 

A. Agenda Additions, Deletions, and Adoption 
 
Mrs. Carroll made a motion to adopt the agenda as presented.  Mr. Kramer seconded the 
motion and it passed unanimously. 
 

B. Proclamations 
 
1. Relay for Life Days – April 13 – May 4, 2012 

 
Mayor Turner read and presented the proclamation. 
 

C. Public Comment 
 
1) Mrs. Barbara Hoffman, from the Cultural Council, will be presenting the 

Results of their Economic Impact Study. 
 
Mrs. Barbara Hoffman, Chair of the Cultural Council of Indian River County, gave a 
Power Point presentation (on file in the City Clerk’s office). 
 

2) Mr. William Helmly, from the Indian River Land Trust Board, will be 
giving a presentation on the Lagoon. 

 



Page 2  CC03/20/12 
 

Mr. Bill Helmly, Chairman of the Indian River Land Trust, was at tonight’s meeting to 
talk about preserving the lagoon.  He told a little bit about the Indian River Land Trust 
and gave some history on some of the things that they have accomplished.  He covered 
the many species of both plants and animals that exist in the lagoon.  He said that the 
lagoon is one of the reasons that many people choose to make Indian River County their 
home.  He thanked Council for giving him the opportunity to talk about the lagoon.  He 
mentioned that their annual Indian River Land Trust membership event will be held on 
March 31st at Round Island. 
   

3)   Update on FPL by Transactional Attorneys 
 
Mr. Rick Miller, Edwards Wildman & Palmer, gave a report on where they are with the 
negotiations with Florida Power and Light (FPL).  He said that things have been 
progressing and there have been a number of meetings.  He noted that there still were a 
number of issues that needed to be dealt with in the purchase agreement.  There are 
current on-going discussions relating to the Orlando Utilities Commission (OUC) 
contract.  There is a process taking place now between FPL, OUC, and themselves about 
the termination of that contract and a meeting has been set up for April 15th with FMPA.  
FPL will be joining them at the table when they meet with FMPA.  They are hopeful that 
they will see results with OUC.  He said negotiations with all the parties have shown 
good faith.  Mr. Miller reminded Council that the contract extension for the LOI with 
FPL is about to expire and he would recommend extending it.  He reiterated that they 
continue to make progress and feel they should continue on with the progress.  His firm 
hired PA Consulting to evaluate the contracts with OUC and FMPA (power supply 
agreements).  He mentioned that those contracts are less valuable now then they were a 
few months ago.   
 
Mayor Turner asked Mr. Miller to explain the power situation in the State of Florida. 
 
Mr. Miller explained that there is an over-supply of power in the State and there is not a 
great demand for these contracts at this time as a result of the over-supply.  He said that 
FPL recognizes that and he is glad that they will be at the table when negotiations are 
taking place.   
 
Mrs. Carroll asked Mr. Miller that based on his experience in the past, is this deal 
progressing as he would hope that it would. 
 
Mr. Miller answered yes, that it is progressing as well as it can.   
 
Mrs. Carroll then asked him if communication with the various City departments has 
progressed as expected.  Mr. Miller answered yes.  
 
Mrs. Carroll asked if they would be bringing forward the continuation of the term of their 
agreement (LOI). 
 



Page 3  CC03/20/12 
 

Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager, recommended an extension of 120-days.  He said 
that FPL has been working on the real estate part of the deal, which includes the 
easements, rights-of-ways, rights to leases, etc.  They are working with Indian River 
Farms on some of this.   He said but the real key will be to sit down at the table with 
FMPA and OUC.  Again, he recommended somewhere around 120-days be given for the 
extension of the agreement.  He said that Council could direct staff to bring something to 
them at their next meeting. 
 
Mr. Winger commented that he thought back in October that it would take about one 
hundred and ten million dollars to exit from their existing contracts.  But what has 
changed is the price of coal versus gas.  He said that last week Stanton II was shut down, 
but their cost goes on.  He said that the cost of coal power is up and the City of Vero 
Beach is coal power based.  The situation is that we are in the wrong place (having coal 
power) and that is not a good place to be.  He said that nuclear power has diminished in 
value.  He felt that they have a strong partner with FPL in these negotiations.  He said 
that a small guy doesn’t belong in power anymore with what is going on in this Country.  
He didn’t know how they would extradite themselves without a partner such as FPL.  He 
felt that 90 days was enough time to see where this matter would go.  He felt that it was 
urgent that they get out of the power business.   
 
Mrs. Carroll wanted to hear from both Mr. Miller and FPL on whether or not they felt 
that 90 days was enough time. 
 
Mayor Tuner wondered if 120-days would be enough. 
 
Mr. Ryan Fair, with Florida Power and Light, agreed with the comments made by both 
Mr. Winger and Mr. Miller. He values the progress that they have made so far and views 
the City of Vero Beach as a partner.  He is certain that there is a salutation that works and 
they are working diligently in getting that.  Their position for the LOI is that this will be 
their third extension.  He suggested extending the LOI for six months, which will take 
them into September, and by then they will know the clear path forward with OUC and 
FMPA and whether there is going to be a transaction or they are going to say that they 
gave it their best shot.  He felt that 90-days was probably not enough time to work out all 
the issues.  He suggested doing one more extension for six months and that should be 
enough if there is a deal to be had or not. 
 
Mayor Turner stated that if FPL is willing to say it is a go or a no go after a six month 
extension then she will be in favor of it. 
 
Mr. Miller felt that a period of six months is reasonable.  He agreed that if it is not in 
place in six months then it may not happen.   
 
Mrs. Carroll agreed that they needed to have clear exit strategy from all of the contracts.  
She would also agree with the six month extension. 
 
Mr. O’Connor added that staff would support the 180-day extension. 



Page 4  CC03/20/12 
 

 
Mayor Turner made a motion to extend the LOI for 180-days.  Mrs. Carroll seconded the 
motion.  
 
Mr. Winger wanted the public to know if this transaction goes through that there is no pot 
of gold in getting out of this business.  What it will do is lower electric bills for the 
customers because they will now be on FPL and get the City out of the utility business. 
He has told Mr. Fair that there are two ways to establish a fair price and they are: 1) let 
the market determine it or 2) let FPL justify the calculations.  He agreed that they needed 
to go forward, but as he has told FPL, if they do resolve these tough issues that the issue 
of a fair market price is still on the table.  They have to understand that they are getting a 
fair value and that the City is left reasonably intact.  He said that if the City had to borrow 
money to sell the Power Plant then he doesn’t know how they could continue to run the 
City. 
 
The motion passed 4-1 with Mr. Kramer voting no. 
 
Mrs. Carroll asked Mr. Fair how is the City working with him to provide the information 
that he needs. 
 
Mr. Fair stated very well.  He continued to say that he is clearly focused on the third party 
contracts and feels there is a solution.  He also mentioned that there are a lot of other 
things they are working on behind the scenes (easements, rights-of way, etc.).  He said to 
think about how much electric realty that the City owns and they are in the process of 
tackling all those rights and the City has been very accommodating.  This process is 
moving forward and they are making progress.  He appreciated the extension of six 
months. 
 
Mr. Miller brought up that they needed to deal with their current retainer with his firm.  
To date for all the different phases they have been paid $195,189.50.  He hoped to have 
another increase of $200,000 at this time.   
 
Mr. Winger stated that he was in favor of agreeing to the additional $200,000 extension.  
However, he wanted the public to understand that if they don’t resolve this then they have 
to face it that this can’t go on forever. 
 
Mr. Winger made a motion to increase the contract with Edwards, Wildman, & Palmer, 
to $200,000.  Mrs. Carroll seconded the motion and it passed 4-1 with Mr. Kramer voting 
no. 
 

4) Review of the City of Vero Beach General Employee Retirement Plan 
Options – Mr. Leon “Rocky” Joyner, Segal Company 

 
Mr. Rocky Joyner, Vice President and Consulting Actuary of Segal Company, gave a 
Power Point presentation (on file in the City Clerk’s office). 
 



Page 5  CC03/20/12 
 

Mr. Fletcher asked what percentage of funding is required by State law. 
 
Mr. Joyner answered that there is not a percentage required.  He said that what State law 
requires is that each plan, each year, pays the normal costs of the plan and any 
administrative services that come out of the trust and amortization of any unfunded 
liabilities of the plan.  He said that the amortization period for Vero Beach is fourteen 
years. 
 
Mr. Winger recalled that at the Finance Commission meeting today they discussed the 
situation if the utilities are sold that there will be fewer people contributing to the 
retirement plan. 
 
Mr. Joyner said that a lot depends on the negotiations with FPL and how many 
employees they will be taking and what kind of retirement benefits that they will be 
offering the employees.  At this point they are unclear what changes are going to be made 
to the plan as a result of the utilities transaction. 
 
In slide 7 of the presentation it shows that the expected employee contribution is 
currently 2.67% of the payroll, which amounts to $516,039 and the employer’s normal 
cost, which is currently 4.36% of the payroll amounts to $841,044. 
 
Mrs. Carroll asked Mr. Coment if the City can change benefits if the personnel rules 
change for their employees in their collective bargaining unit.  She was referring to a 
memo that she received from one of their outside attorneys. 
 
Mr. Wayne Coment, Acting City Attorney, answered no.  He said that they can only 
make changes to things that are not vested yet.  He said one of the problems that the State 
legislation has had recently is with the change to the Florida Retirement System (FRS).  
The change in the plan where employees would be required to contribute 3% was a 
change to the contract so the trial court stated that it was unconstitutional because it is an 
infringement of a contract.  It is now going to the Florida Supreme Court. 
 
Mayor Turner asked Mr. Joyner what accrual cost method is he using. 
 
Mr. Joyner said that he is using Interage Normal because over the long haul it gives more 
uniform fluctuations of normal costs and contribution rate patterns to try to keep the 
contribution rate as level as they can between generations and taxpayers.  He said that 
you can’t hide from investment returns.  It is also the method used by almost two-thirds 
of the plans in the Country. 
 
Mrs. Carroll noted that the employer’s normal cost for the plan is $841,000.  She asked 
how that goes into their normal 101 General Fund, which shows this contribution of 
$1.1386 million. 
 
Ms. Cindy Lawson, Finance Director, explained that is a combination of the normal costs 
and the $3 million that they make in annual contributions, that is actually towards the 



Page 6  CC03/20/12 
 

unfunded accrued liability.  She said that in total they make an annual contribution of 
$4.1 million and of that $3.1 million is funding the underfunded liability that has accrued 
up to this period of time. 
 
Mrs. Carroll noted that that annual payment to the general employment pension fund 
basically equals the amount the City takes in property tax revenue, which is $4.1 million 
dollars.  This tells them how big their pension deficit is. 
 
Mrs. Carroll asked if legally there are any legislative rules that govern what their match 
must be. 
 
Mr. Coment told her that was the discretion of the Council. 
 
Mr. Joyner explained that because an employer is taking money out of an employee’s 
paycheck for social security they are not required to provide any kind of pension plan. 
 
Mr. Kramer asked Mr. Joyner if he had some type of statistics on what other cities are 
doing. 
 
Mrs. Carroll suggested getting some data from the Florida League of Cities.   
 
Mayor Turner had some information from the Florida League of Cities on different things 
being done by different cities and will circulate this information to Council. 
 
Mr. Joyner would also get them some information.  He said that he is dealing with many 
different cities, which has been an eye opener and “all over the map.” 
 
Mayor Turner asked what can they change in the pension plan noting the existing union 
contracts are not open to be renegotiated until 2013. 
 
Mr. O’Connor did not think that there was anything significant that they could do until 
FY2013, which is when they will be able to modify the contracts.  He did express that 
that if they are going to make significant changes then he needs to know what direction 
they are going in and what their goals are for reduction.  Also the employees need to see 
what is taking place and be able to give their input if they choose to. 
 
Mrs. Carroll reiterated the amount the City is spending each year is over $4 million and 
that is what they are getting for property taxes within the City.  She said that they could 
not continue on this cycle. 
 
Mr. Joyner cautioned Council that when making modifications to other benefits, such as 
health insurance, that it could have unintended consequences to their retirement benefits.   
 
Mr. O’Connor asked Council if they would like for him to bring this to the Finance 
Commission to get some ideas on where they could reduce costs and come up with some 
alternatives. 



Page 7  CC03/20/12 
 

 
Mr. Fletcher instructed the City Manager to come up with a plan to present to the Finance 
Commission and then come back to the City Council. 
 
Mr. Winger agreed with having the City Manager work with the Finance Director on this.  
He said unfortunately the Finance Commission has not been provided with the General 
Employee Retirement Plan Actuarial Valuation and Review as of October 1, 2011 (on file 
in the Clerk’s office).  He said that Council just received the information tonight. 
 
Mayor Turner would like to see a plan developed that has less risks to the City and helps 
in deferring their costs. 
 
Mr. Fletcher was not interested in stopping everything, which would be the maximum 
reduction in plan benefits as outlined in the presentation.  He said that retaining 
employees would be a problem if you cut everything to zero.  They need to have some 
sort of retirement program for new employees. 
 
Council took a ten-minute break at 7:49 p.m. 
 
Mr. Paul Teresi, 1285 Admiral’s Walk, Castaway Cove, reported that he made a public 
records request regarding free water and he has some major problems with the answers 
that he received back from Mr. Rob Bolton, Water and Sewer Director.  Mr. Bolton did 
not answer the question to identify the people who are getting this free reuse water.  
Someone at the Water Plant must know who these people are.   He said if Mr. Bolton 
doesn’t know who they are then maybe one of his employees knows who they are.  He 
mentioned that as soon as a reporter started asking questions people stopped showing up.  
Mr. Bolton did not identify what City Manager authorized him to allow reuse water to be 
given away with no charge to those who received it.  He also did not respond to what 
City Council he informed that he was giving this water away for free.  Mr. Bolton 
mentioned that he does not know if GAI was aware of the stand pipe and as their liaison 
Mr. Bolton should have informed GAI of the stand pipe because it is an asset of the City 
and money is being lost.  Mr. Bolton insists that it is free reuse water.  Mr. Teresi said 
that to the best of his knowledge, over the last ten years, he has never seen an 
advertisement or public notice telling people that they can come to the Water Plant and 
get free reuse water.  The memo he received in his public records request stated that there 
was a meter installed in December of 2008.  The usage for 2009 was 1,859,000 gallons, 
2010 was 2,594,000 gallons, 2011 was 2,594,000 gallons, and year-to-date 2012 it is 
506,000 gallons.  There has been no compensation from any person(s) using the stand 
pipe as the reuse water is free to the public. Mr. Teresi said at a time when the City is 
facing economic hard times this is revenue that they are losing.  The reason that he made 
the public records request was for the Taxpayers of Indian River County/Board of 
Directors who were concerned and asked that he get the information for them. 
 
Mrs. Carroll noted in Mr. Teresi’s request that he states that his general observation of 
users is companies. She asked him if he stayed in the area for awhile and watched trucks 
go back and forth.   



Page 8  CC03/20/12 
 

 
Mr. Teresi told Mrs. Carroll that the information that he used was what was quoted in the 
newspaper.  He said that it is a fenced off area and does not have a sign that says “public 
welcome.” 
 
Mr. O’Connor explained that the valve is on the outside of the Plant and you don’t go 
into the Sewer Plant.  He said that one time there were three or four of these valves 
around the City and they have been closed for various reasons.  He said one of the biggest 
users for this reuse water is the City.  Other users are companies that are in the lawn care 
and pest control business and road construction tanker trucks.   He said that there is no 
sign hanging by the valve.  He said until this was brought up, he didn’t even though 
where the valve was.  The question now is do we want to discontinue this.  He said that 
they could put a lock on the valve.  He expressed that people getting water would 
typically come in the morning and there wouldn’t be traffic going back and forth all day 
long. 
 
Mr. Fletcher asked what kind of filling station is it. 
 
Mr. O’Connor explained that it is just a valve with a 4” line. 
 
Mr. Teresi explained that the problem is that there is only a select group that has this 
knowledge.  He said if you want to be fair to the residents of the City of Vero Beach then 
let all of the public know about this. 
 
Mrs. Carroll asked Mr. O’Connor if he has given any thought to his plan on this. 
 
Mr. O’Connor stated that he likes the way it is working.  It doesn’t cost the City very 
much and City trucks can go to the Water Plant and fill up.  Mrs. Carroll suggested 
putting a locking device on the valve and only the City would have a key to unlock it.  
This way it would not be open to the public.   
 
Mrs. Carroll had some concerns with pesticide trucks receiving the water.  She asked if 
we were sure that they were not rinsing their trucks off while they are there.    
 
Mr. O’Connor has not heard of any problems.  However, he agreed with putting a lock on 
the valve. 
 
Mayor Turner commented that she wanted to know how these people were notified.  She 
thought that it was peculiar when the reporter shows up that none of the trucks came into 
the area to fill up.  She said obviously someone knows who is filling up at this facility 
and who is taking the water.  She said City trucks did not even show up when the reporter 
was there. 
 
Mr. Charlie Wilson commented that checks are being sent out and refund of impact fees 
are beginning to arrive in large part because of efforts of this Council.  One of the things 
he saw in the beginning was that some things were going to be needed to be tweaked and 



Page 9  CC03/20/12 
 

that has happened.  He met with the City Manager and the City Attorney to give him 
some direction.  The County has passed a Resolution to give back impact fees to current 
owners instead of fee payers.  The City of Vero Beach owns about 200 parcels and most 
are leased to other people.  In some cases the City will have paid the impact fees and they 
deserve the refund.  What we are asking in order to facilitate the owner is that the City 
Manager look at the receipt when these refunds come in to see if they belong to the City 
or someone else.  He reiterated that if the City paid for the impact fees then they should 
get the money, but if someone else paid it then that person should get the money.  He 
requested that City Council give direction to the City Manager and the City Attorney that 
they look at the receipt and make a determination of who paid the impact fees and be 
authorized to send the check to the owner. 
 
Mr. O’Connor stated that he met with Mr. Wilson and discussed this and has no objection 
to doing this. 
 
Mrs. Carroll wondered if it would be a significant amount of research to track the owners 
down. 
 
Mr. O’Connor did not think that it would.  He said that they would have the receipt and 
through GIS would be able to obtain the information quickly. 
 
Council had no problem with the City Manager handling it this way. 
 
Mr. Joseph Guffanti asked for the definition of public comment.    
 
Mayor Turner explained to Mr. Guffanti that the Code allows people wishing to speak 
under public comment to call the Clerk and request to be put on the agenda. 
 
Mr. Guffanti did not think that a vote should be taken under public comment. 
 
Mr. Fletcher agreed with Mr. Guffanti and added that they also should have allowed for 
public comments. 
 
Mr. Guffanti commented that he has continued to make an inquiry into the City’s 
investment.  He complimented the City Manager for cooperating in a timely basis.  He 
has asked the City Manager to let him know if any of his questions are an undue burden 
and he would then rephrase the questions.  He said that the Finance Commission has 
embarked on a similar path of what he is doing.  The good news is that City Manager 
gave him information showing the largest asset that the City has, which is about $55 
million dollars and Prudential takes care of investing the money. However, he doesn’t 
think that the investment is too “hot.”   He reiterated that the Finance Commission is now 
investigating what he has been looking at and he finds it strange that they are doing it 
now.  In the records that he requested were the names of people receiving pension from 
the City and Mr. Jim Gabbard’s name was on the list and the amount that he receives 
each month.   
 



Page 10  CC03/20/12 
 

Mrs. Linda Hillman congratulated Mr. Coment on being promoted to City Attorney and 
said that it was a shame that decision had not been decided on before.  She was here 
tonight because of an article that appeared in Vero Beach News Weekly on the Goline 
buses.  It states that Senior Resource’s grant money has been denied, but now she sees 
that the Senior Resource Association is raising fees for senior activities. She commented 
that the bus makes approximately 900 trips a year and if they charged each person riding 
the bus 25 cents then they could afford to move the bus hub.  She said if you watch some 
of the people who use the buses you can see them talking on their cell phones, eating all 
kinds of fast food, so they have 25 cents to pay for a bus ride.  She said that no 
neighborhood wants this bus hub near their property.  She also commented that the only 
way her neighborhood knows what is going on is through the newspaper and what they 
read.  She has never received a phone call or letter from Senior Resources about what is 
going on with the bus hub. 
 
Mayor Turner made it clear that the City Council does not control the Goline buses. 
 
Mrs. Hillman mentioned that somehow this City was able to move the hub, which used to 
be located at Pocahontas Park over to where it is located now. 
 
Mr. Fletcher suggested that Mrs. Hillman attend one of the Senior Resource 
Association’s Board meetings.  He said that they are open to the public.  It was also 
mentioned that she may want to attend a future MPO meeting to discuss her matter. 
 
Mrs. Hillman brought up the cost they are spending on the transactional attorneys.  She 
was sure that an increase to their utility bills would be needed in order to pay for the 
attorneys. She also did not realize that the LOI agreement was going to be brought up 
tonight. She didn’t know how this was voted on without public input.  She didn’t think 
that it should have been brought forward this evening without being publically 
advertised. 
 
Mrs. Hillman then brought up Community Church.  She said that the seven year 
moratorium for no building to take place at the Church is about to expire and the issue of 
parking is coming up again.  She guarantees that the Community Church is already 
getting ready to try to get more parking and the neighborhood is not going to give up any 
more of their parking. 
 
Mr. Winger agreed that this was decided seven years ago and it should stay the way it is. 
 
Mr. Fletcher felt that if they allowed people to park on the rights-of-way it would 
alleviate some of the parking problems for the neighborhood. 
 
Mrs. Hillman felt that it would bring more cars into the neighborhood.  She recalled that 
the City gave the Community Church permission to use the area around the old County 
Administration Building for parking and provide golf carts to haul people back and forth 
from the Church to their cars. 
 



Page 11  CC03/20/12 
 

Mrs. Carroll felt whether or not there was more parking people are going to go to church 
if they choose to and will find a place to park.  However, public safety is another issue.  
She asked Mr. O’Connor to get with the Public Work’s Department to see if there are any 
safety issues that need to be looked at.  She said that if there are parking spaces where 
cars can safely park then she would agree with them being used. 
 
Mr. O’Connor did not think that Indian River Farms had a problem with taking down the 
no parking signs. 
 
Mr. Hillman told Council that she hopes that this never happens in their backyard. 
 

D. Adoption of Consent Agenda 
 
1. Regular City Council Minutes – March 6, 2012 
2. Utility and Access Easement Deed (2011-EG-0102) – Vero Beach 

Elementary School Replacement 
3. Memorandum of Understanding between the City of Vero Beach and 

Indian River County for Installation of Monitoring Wells on Airport 
Property 

4. Contract Renewal – Uniform Services 
5. Monthly Capital Project’s Status Reports 

 
Mrs. Carroll pulled item 2D-4) off of the consent agenda.   
 
Mr. Fletcher made a motion to approve the consent agenda as amended.  Mr. Kramer 
seconded the motion and it passed unanimously. 
 
Mr. O’Connor commented that with item 2D-3) “Memorandum of Understanding 
between the City of Vero Beach and Indian River County for Installation of Monitoring 
Wells on Airport Property”, FAA approval is still needed and if there are any problems 
that he would bring this item back to Council. 
 
2D-4) Contract Renewal – Uniform Services 
 
Mrs. Carroll commented that there are two line item budget account numbers dealing 
with uniform services and she was not sure which one that they were using.  She said in 
looking at both and adding the numbers they don’t add up to the amount of the annual 
contract (Citywide), which is $88,727,00. 
 
Mr. O’Connor explained that this addresses both uniform supply and cleaning.  This 
number represents what they have spent for the last twelve months with their present 
provider, who is G&K. 
 
Mr. Fletcher asked if they have gone out to bid recently. 
 



Page 12  CC03/20/12 
 

Mr. John O’Brien, Manager of Purchasing & Warehouse Operations, answered no 
because he did not think that this was the time to go out for bids with the union 
negotiation contracts coming up in 2013.  He also mentioned that there has not been an 
increase in fees with this company since 2001 and they have been reliable and have 
provided excellent service to the City for the past six years.   
 
Mayor Turner added that this may also affect some of the utility workers when the Plant 
is purchased by FPL. 
 
Mr. O’Connor stated that it would not be his recommendation to go out to bid.  He was 
happy that G&K was holding this price. 
 
Mrs. Carroll referred to the budget and reiterated that adding the two line items together it 
seems to be higher.  She went over the departments that have this line item in their budget 
for only the cleaning and not the uniform part. 
 
Mr. O’Connor said that he would break down all of the costs and provide Council with 
the information. 
 
Mr. O’Brien added that with some of those numbers the City pays the employee some 
money for safety shoes and some uniforms have different cleaning regulations then the 
normal uniforms do. 
 
Mrs. Carroll did not realize that there were other things being purchased from these 
budgeted line items. 
 
Mr. Fletcher made a motion to approve the contract renewal for uniform services.  Mr. 
Kramer seconded the motion and it passed 4-1 with Mrs. Carroll voting no. 
  
3.        PUBLIC HEARINGS      
 
None 
 
4.        RESOLUTIONS FOR ADOPTION WITHOUT PUBLIC HEARING   
 
A) A Resolution authorizing the City of Vero Beach, Florida, to Enter into a 

Joint Participation Agreement with the State of Florida, Department of 
Transportation for Airport Access Improvements (FDOT #422490-1-94-01) – 
Requested by the Airport Department 

 
The City Clerk read the Resolution by title only. 
 
Mr. Eric Menger, Airport Director, reported that this project was approved by the City 
Council in the Airport’s FY-2012 Capital Improvement Program.  At this time no work 
has been done.  The total cost of the project is estimated at $700,000.  The JPA is in the 
amount of $560,000, which funds 80% of the total project cost.  The remaining $140,000 



Page 13  CC03/20/12 
 

will come from the Airport Fund.  Estimated date for construction to begin is late 2012 or 
early 2013. 
 
Mr. Fletcher made a motion to approve the Resolution.  Mr. Kramer seconded the motion 
and it passed 5-0 with Mr. Winger voting yes, Mr. Kramer yes, Mrs. Carroll yes, Mr. 
Fletcher yes, and Mayor Turner yes. 
 
5.       FIRST READINGS BY TITLE FOR ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS    
          THAT REQUIRE A FUTURE PUBLIC HEARING 
 
A) An Ordinance of the City of Vero Beach, Florida, amending those sections of 

the Code of the City of Vero Beach related to certain Powers and Duties of 
the City of Vero Beach Board of Adjustment to reassign such Powers and 
Duties to the City of Vero Beach Planning and Zoning Board; amending 
certain related provisions for Clarification and Consistency within the Code; 
Providing for Transition; Providing for Conflict and Severability; Providing 
for an Effective Date. – Requested by the City Council 

 
The City Clerk read the Ordinance by title only. 
 
Mr. Fletcher made a motion to approve the Ordinance of first reading and set the public 
hearing for April 3, 2012.  Mr. Kramer seconded the motion and it passed 5-0 with Mr. 
Winger voting yes, Mr. Kramer yes, Mrs. Carroll yes, Mr. Fletcher yes, and Mayor 
Turner yes. 
 
6.       CITY CLERK’S MATTERS       
 
None 
 
7.       CITY MANAGER’S MATTERS 
 
A) MacWilliam Park Boat Ramp Reconstruction – Project Agreement for FIND 

Grant Project #IR-VB-52 – COVB Project #2010-05 
 
Mayor Turner had some concerns with all of the ramps being closed during the duration 
of the project. 
 
Mr. Monte Falls, Public Work’s Director, hoped to have City Council approval to move 
forward with getting grants to go out to bid for design work and they plan to do the work 
in the summer and keep some ramps open at all times.  He said that he thought that it 
would take about three months to complete the project. 
 
Mr. Kramer made a motion to approve the Project Agreement with the Florida Inland 
Navigation District (FIND) Waterway Assistance Program (WAP) for improvements to 
MacWilliam Park boat ramps and docks.  Mr. Winger seconded the motion and it passed 
unanimously. 



Page 14  CC03/20/12 
 

B) Contract Renewal – Utility Bill Printing and Mailing 
 
Mr. O’Connor requested approval for the extension of their contract with Pinnacle Data 
Systems.  He said that they are charging the City 54 cents per statement each month for 
the prints, inserts, and mailing of their utility bills, which he felt was a good price. 
 
Mr. Winger made a motion to approve a one year contract renewal to Pinnacle Data 
Systems.  Mayor Turner seconded the motion and it passed unanimously. 
 
Mr. Winger asked Mr. O’Connor to give an update on the Youth Sailing Foundation. 
 
Mr. O’Connor reported that he has been talking to Mr. Charlie Pope about the possibility 
of using one of the two vacant City buildings at the Waste Water Treatment Plant and he 
thought that one of those buildings may meet the needs of the Youth Sailing Foundation.  
He told Mr. Pope that he needs to put a proposal together and present it.  There are two 
issues on this property that may have to be looked at.  The first is that it may have to be 
rezoned and also tweaked in order to comply with the Comprehensive Plan.  However, 
they could draft a lease around these requirements.  The Youth Sailing Foundation would 
be responsible for the water service and the electric service.  The air conditioner has not 
been turned on for about two years and the Youth Sailing Foundation would be 
responsible for it if they choose to use it.  Mr. O’Connor felt that the location was good, 
but they are still in the planning stages.  He said that the lease may be coming back to 
Council for consideration.  The only thing in the building at this time is the ice machine.  
He said that September 2010 was the last time that the facility was utilized. 
 
Mr. Winger asked if 318 Conn Way has been taken care. 
 
Mr. O’Connor reported that demolition has begun. 
 
Mr. Coment added that he would be bringing a lien Resolution on this property for 
Council’s approval. 
 
Mrs. Carroll recalled the benchmarking workshop that they had last week and that the 
current population data of 2010 was not used, instead the population for 2000 was used.  
She wondered why they benchmarked with the 17,800 number.   
 
Mr. O’Connor explained that it was an error on their part and they will use the 2010 
figure going forward.   
 
Mrs. Carroll was concerned as to who picked the various items that they benchmarked 
against.  She asked did the department pick it or did they give them the questions to ask.  
She said that they didn’t do the project to find out that everything was fine, they did it to 
see where improvements can be made.   
 



Page 15  CC03/20/12 
 

Mr. O’Connor explained that in the beginning he met with the Mayor and the Finance 
Director and they came up with the initial questions and then the different departments 
came up with items that related to the work that they perform. 
 
Mrs. Carroll expressed that the reason for benchmarking was to find ways where they can 
save money going forward or improve departments.   
 
Mr. O’Connor agreed with Mrs. Carroll’s comments and felt that they were already 
making improvements.  He noted that in the Police Department they have already 
reduced two administrative positions. 
 
8.       CITY ATTORNEY’S MATTERS 
 
None 
 
9.       CITY COUNCIL MATTERS 
 

A. Old Business 
 

B. New Business 
 
1. Free Reuse Water – Requested by Mayor Turner 
 
Mayor Turner asked Mr. O’Connor what their policy is going to be going forward. 
 
Mr. O’Connor said that they would have a lock on the valve and it would be for City use 
only. 
 
Mr. Fletcher wondered if any profit could be made from this. 
 
Mr. O’Connor answered no.  He would prefer that it be used only by City employees. 
 
2. Reuse Water given away? – Requested by Councilmember Carroll 
 
This item was discussed earlier. 
 
3. Socio-Cultural Community Profiles – Requested by Councilmember Carroll 
 
Mrs. Carroll reported at that the last MPO meeting there was a presentation to the 
members in which the census data was taken and broken down into various 
neighborhoods.  She passed out information (please see attached) that broke down the 
information into five neighborhoods in the City.  Those neighborhoods include McAnsh 
Park, Central Island, Central Vero Beach/Miracle Mile, Rosewood, and the South Barrier 
Island.  The survey shows that a large percent of people under the age of 21 live in this 
community.  There have been many discussions that the City is comprised of elderly 
people.  She expressed that they (City Council) are representing children, family, and the 



Page 16  CC03/20/12 
 

working community.  The neighborhood with the largest increase of young people is in 
the Central Island area where over 40% of the population is of the working age between 
22 to 64.   
 
Mr. Fletcher added that he went online to get a copy of the census report and it is 
interesting to take a look at. 
 
Mrs. Carroll expressed that of the 15,000 residents in the City that 20% are under the age 
of 18.  She asked Council to keep that in mind when making decisions.   
 
10. INDIVIDUAL COUNCILMEMBERS’ MATTERS 
 

A. Mayor Pilar Turner’s Matters 
1. Correspondence 
2. Committee Reports 
3. Comments 

 
Mayor Turner announced that there will be a baseball game at the Vero Beach Sports 
Village on March 31st at 1:00 p.m. and the proceeds will be going to United Way.  She 
thanked the Vero Beach Art Club and City staff for making the Under the Oaks Art show 
such a success this year.  She participated in the Mayor’s delivery of Meals on Wheels 
and reminded everyone that Dancing Under the Stars will be at Royal Palm Pointe on 
Monday night from 6:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. 
 

B. Vice Mayor Craig Fletcher’s Matters 
1. Correspondence 
2. Committee Reports 
3. Comments 

 
Mr. Fletcher reported that he attended the Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) 
meeting, the Treasure Coast Council of Local Government’s meeting, the annual 
Firefighters fair, Aviation Day, and that this weekend the Antique Car show will be held 
at Riverside Park under the oaks. 
 

C. Councilmember Tracy Carroll’s Matters 
1. Correspondence 
2. Committee Reports 
3. Comments 

 
Mrs. Carroll asked if any of the Council was planning on attending the meeting 
concerning the update on Amtrak.  Mr. Winger said that he plans to attend. 
 
Mrs. Carroll announced that she and Mr. Coment participated in the corn hole 
competition game at the fair and came in second place. 
 



Page 17  CC03/20/12 
 

Mrs. Carroll reported that last Friday she attended a Florida League of Cities workshop 
and she would be sharing with the City Manager some of the things that she learned at 
that workshop.  She attended the last MPO meeting and learned that the State is looking 
at doing away with MPO’s with areas that have less than 200,000 in population.  She 
thanked the Mayor for sending a letter to Senator Bill Nelson voicing their concern and 
showing their support for MPO.  She received a letter from Ms. Gump who feels that 
A1A needs to be two lanes in each direction. She noted that this would not be a decision 
of the City Council and would be under the State’s jurisdiction.  This weekend at the 
Riverside Children’s Theater the production of Rapunzel will be performed and Indian 
River Day of Caring will be on April 28th. 
  

D. Councilmember Jay Kramer’s Matters 
1. Correspondence 
2. Committee Reports 
3. Comments 

 
Mr. Kramer attended both St. Patrick day parades, he thought that Aviation Day was 
fantastic, and he is working on the proposed Business Improvement District.  
 

E. Councilmember Richard Winger’s Matters 
1. Correspondence 
2. Committee Reports 
3. Comments 

 
Mr. Winger reported that he attended Springfling at the Community Center, was in both 
St. Patrick day parades, attended Aviation Day, and as a member on the Beach and 
Shores Preservation Commission took part in inspecting Treasure Shores Beach,  
 
11.        ADJOURNMENT 
 
Tonight’s meeting adjourned at 9:13 p.m. 
 
/tv         


